The views expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency.

AD-A237 690

TIC

NATION BUILDING: THE ARMY AVIATION CONTRIBUTION

STUDY

PROJECT

BY

LIEUTENANT COLONEL RONALD D. THOMAS United States Army

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release. Distributin is unlimited.

USAWC CLASS OF 1991



U.S. ARMY WAR COLLEGE, CARLISLE BARRACKS, PA 17013-5050

91-03648

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE					Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
1a. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION						
Unclassified 2a. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION AUTHORITY		3 DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY OF REPORT				
		Approved for public release; distribution is				
26. DECLASSIFICATION / DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE		unlimited.				
4. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER(S)		5. MONITORING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER(S)				
6a. NAME OF PERFORMING ORGANIZATION	66. OFFICE SYMBOL	7a. NAME OF MONITORING ORGANIZATION				
U.S. Army War College	(If applicable)					
Carlisle Barracks						
6c. ADDRESS (City, State, and ZIP Code)		7b. ADDRESS (City, State, and ZIP Code)				
Carlisle, Pennsylvania 17013-5050						
8a. NAME OF FUNDING / SPONSORING ORGANIZATION	8b. OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)	9. PROCUREMENT INSTRUMENT IDENTIFICATION NUMBER				
8c. ADDRESS (City, State, and ZIP Code)		10. SOURCE OF F	UNDING NUMBERS			
		PROGRAM	PROJECT	TASK	WORK UNIT	
		ELEMENT NO.	NO.	NO.	ACCESSION NO	
11 TITLE (Include Security Classification) Nation Building: The Army Aviat	ion Contributio					
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		_		
12. PERSONAL AUTHOR(S)						
LTC Ronald D. Thomas 13a TYPE OF REPORT 13b TIME CO		14. DATE OF REPO	OT /Your Marsh /	1. 11E	PAGE COUNT	
Final MSP FROM		91/05/0		Jay) (3	23	
16. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTATION			<u> </u>			
17. COSATI CODES	18. SUBJECT TERMS	Continue on revers	e if necessary and	identify	by block number)	
FIELD GROUP SUB-GROUP						
19. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse if necessary	and identify by block r	umberl				
The national security strategy in			doforman		h., , , , , ,	
Deacetime operations to improve	and promote stat	nded national	aign countri	sion t	hat includes	
peacetime operations to improve and promote stability in foreign countries. The cornerstone document of U.S. Army doctrine is Airland Battle Future (ALBF). Nation assistance is defined						
in ALBF as the mission of assist	ing a host natio	on in its eff	orts to rest	ructur	e, reinforce, or	
rebuild its formal and informal institutions. Nation building operations contribute to stabil-						
ity in foreign countries thereby	enhancing U.S.	national sec	urity. This	paper	will discuss the	
contribution that Army aviation can make to nation assistance operations, provide principles						
for integrating Army aviation into emerging ALBF nation assistance doctrine, and propose recom-						
mendations that when implemented can assist host nation governments in the development of their						
internal Army aviation organizations. The discussion in this paper will focus on the need for U.S. nation assistance forces to assist host nation countries in Central America to develop						
internal aviation organizations that can be used in dual roles to support nation building						
initiatives. The intent of the p	paper is to sugg	gest that U.S	. Army aviat	ion sh	ould perform	
20. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY OF ABSTRACT	_		CURITY CLASSIFICA	TION		
UNCLASSIFIED/UNLIMITED SAME AS	PT COTCUSERS			1		
22a NAME OF RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL COL Alfred G. Snelgrove, Project	Adviser	226 TELEPHONE ((717) 245-3	l <mark>include Area Code</mark> 481/4329		FICE SYMBOL	
DD Form 1473, JUN 86	Previous editions are				ATION OF THIS PAGE	

Continued from Item 19. Abstract

nation assistance operations in concert with other U.S. military forces and in participation with the forces of the host nation.

7

-

		SLOR TOP	
	BTIC Discur	<u>(41%</u>)	8
USAWC MILITARY STUDIES PROGRAM PAPER		lability	Codes
	Dist	Avail and Special	
ws expressed in this paper are those of the and do not necessarily reflect the views of	H-1		

The views expressed in this paper are those of the interviews expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency.

NATION BUILDING: The Army Aviation Contribution

AN INDIVIDUAL STUDY PROJECT

by

Lieutenant Colonel Ronald D. Thomas, US Army

Colonel Greg Snelgrove Project Advisor

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

U. S. Army War College Carlisle Barracks, Pennsylvania 17013-5050 7 May 1991

ABSTRACT

AUTHOR: Ronald D. Thomas, LTC, US Army

TITLE: Nation Building: The Army Aviation Contribution

FORMAT: Individual Study Project

DATE: 7 May 1991 PAGES: 23 CLASSIFICATION: UNCLAS

The national security strategy involves an expanded national defense mission that includes peacetime operations to improve and promote stability in foreign countries. The cornerstone document of US Army doctrine is Airland Battle-Future (ALBF). Nation assistance is defined in ALBF as the mission of assisting a Host Nation (HN) in its efforts to restructure, reinforce, or rebuild its formal and informal institutions. Nation building operations contribute to stability in foreign countries thereby enhancing US national security. This paper will discuss the contribution that Army aviation can make to nation assistance operations, provide principles for integrating army aviation into assistance doctrine, and propose emerging ALBF nation recommendations that when implemented can assist host nation governments in the development of their internal army aviation organizations.

The discussion in this paper will focus on the need for US nation assistance forces to assist host nation countries in Central America to develop internal aviation organizations that can be used in dual roles to support nation building initiatives. The intent of the paper is to suggest that US Army aviation should perform nation assistance operations in concert with other US military forces and in participation with the forces of the host nation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUBJECT	PAGE	NUMBER
Introduction		1
Background		3
Nation Building: Central American Perspective		4
Nation Assistance		7
Nation Assistance Forces Aviation Support		8 8
Integrating Aviation into Nation Building		11
Aviation Special Operations Forces Aviation Formal Training Base Principles of Integration		L 1 L 3 L 4
Recommendations	1	7
Conclusion	2	22
Endnotes		

Bibliography

INTRODUCTION

Nation assistance is not a visionary topic, but a philosophy of action that can be used to promote U.S. national interests by supporting developing nations in their nation building initiatives. The US Army has included nation assistance in its Airland Battle Future doctrine and has defined it as the mission of providing assistance to another cooperative nation in its efforts to restructure, reinforce, or rebuild its formal and informal infrastructures to provide for its people. Included are institution building assistance, disaster relief, economic development assistance and security assistance.¹ The incorporation of nation assistance into Army Doctrine falls in line with the Department of Defense's (DOD) expanded national defense mission that includes peacetime operations to improve and promote stability in foreign countries. Expanding and formalizing the DOD role in peacetime operations is a further indicator of the changes that are taking place in our national strategy. US Army aviation can assist our nation with these changes.

The region that presents the greatest potential for nation assistance programs is Central America. El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua have long been plagued with poor economic development, increasing national debt, lack of formal public institutions and poverty. The continual threat of insurgent forces in some Central American countries, contributes to an environment that breeds unrest and promotes a lack of confidence in the existing government. This environment is ripe for the emergence of U.S. nation assistance efforts and the use of nation assistance forces.

The primary goal of US forces conducting nation assistance operations is to assist the host nation in developing its ability to provide for the needs of its society, and to build stability through orderly, responsive change.² US forces can be utilized to assess the developing nations needs by providing host nation and regional intelligence information which generates good-will and promotes US democratic ideals through a focused host nation program.

I propose that army aviation be given an active role in the initiatives for Central American host nation assistance programs. Aviation support could facilitate growth and allow for development in Central American countries. This paper addresses the benefits of a comprehensive nation assistance program, historical perspectives, principles for the successful integration of army aviation and recommendations for the army aviation contribution to nation assistance programs.

On April 2, 1991 General Colin L. Powell (USA), Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff stated that he saw no threat looming in the next five years that could require an immediate and immense deployment like that one leading to Operation Desert Storm. "Think hard about it. I'm running out of demons. I'm running out of villains, I'm down to Fidel Castro and Kim Il Sung".³

General Powell's statement reflects the dramatic changes that are occurring in the world today. US national strategy has focused on containing communism for the past forty years. With the Soviet Union turning its attention inward to rebuild its shattered economy, the time for the United States to revitalize nation building initiatives is now.

The opportunities for increased national security through nation assistance programs seem endless and provide challenges to all branches of service. The aviation community, and Army aviation specifically, can provide, through integration into nation assistance operations, an added dimension to the internal development of supported nations.

BACKGROUND

Throughout history military forces have been used primarily to provide both internal and external security for their countries. However, in many countries, the use of military forces to benefit the community and the nation is an integral part of attaining national security. In some areas of the world, military personnel possess skills in engineering, medicine, communications, transportation and procurement that are in short supply in the civilian populace. In recent years it has become policy in the United States to encourage and support the military

in the nations of Central America to develop programs that would utilize their military resources for non-military or nation building programs.

Nation Building: Central American Perspective

In 1983, Dr. Henry Kissinger, who had been National Security Adviser and Secretary of State during the 1970's, led a Presidential Commission to examine the US Foreign Aid program and efforts being made by the US in Central America. The bipartisan group of distinguished Americans recommended to President Reagan and the Congress that the US should undertake a new program of economic and security assistance aimed at ensuring the survival of democracy in South America by stating:

"The 1980's must be the decade in which the United States recognizes that its relationships with Mexico and Central and South America rank in importance with its ties to Europe and Asia... three principles should guide hemispheric relations:

- 1) Democratic self-determination
- 2) Encouragement of economic and social development

3) Cooperation in meeting threats to the security of the region. Just as there can be no real security without economic growth and social justice, so there can be no propriety without security."⁴

The recognized US interests in Central America are numerica. Fresident Buch has stated these interests in the National Security Strategy of the United States. These interests include:

1) A stable and secure world, free of major threats to US interests. The US has long considered that its own security is inextricably linked to the hemisphere's collective security, social peace and economic progress.⁵

2) The growth of human freedom, democratic institutions, and iree market economies throughout the hemisphere, linked by a fair and open international trading system. The US goal in Nicaragua is to assist the new government in its efforts to nurture democratic institutions, rebuild the economy and scale back the Nicaraguan military. The goal in El Salvador is to support that government's military and political efforts to defeat the communist insurgency.⁶

3) The development of healthy and vigorous alliance relationships. Currently, with Canada joining the Organization of American States (OAS), we see renewed interest in this alliance. Additionally, President Bush's Economic Americas Initiative has shown renewed US political and economic interest in the region.

Over the past decade, US policy toward Latin America has evolved from a singular emphasis on human rights to the four "Ds"--democracy, development, defense and dialogue? Obviously, nation building programs that incorporate principles of democracy

provide for a nation's development, support the country's defense, allow for free dialogue between nations and further substantiates the legitimacy of a government. Fivil-military interaction can provide a foundation for accomplianment of these goals and can be tied directly into nation assistance programs.

US Security Assistance Programs and nation assistance forces, directly linked to nation building initiatives in developing countries, can aid in obtaining goals and supporting these principles. The primary focus of security assistance and nation assistance must be toward nation building initiatives that promote stability in the region while providing forestal assistance.

Obviously, attempts by the US at nation building nave produced a variety of results. The complexity of the budget process, foreign policy definitions, cooperation of second and third rate military powers and governments complicate efforts. Nation building should be a response to the needs of both development and defense. In Central America, the likelihood of war that poses a threat to US security is low; however, the governments of El Salvador and Guatemala continue to fight insurgents and engage in border disputes. Armies are still substantial in Central America where over 330,000 men are under arms. Military hardware consists of naval patrol vessels, attack and transport aircraft, armor, attack and transport helicopters. Keeping pace with the demands for arms expenses are the growing

demands by the populace for better living conditions. Not surprisingly, therefore, many governments are evaluating the possibility of arms reductions and armed forces reductions. How the United States addresses these issues will have great impact on the constantly changing world environment.

NATION ASSISTANCE

The needs for nation assistance in Central America vary from country to country based upon their level of development, desire for positive change, and the legitimacy of the government.

Based upon these factors and the impact of fluctuating economic, political, and military factors, it is impossible to develop a singular standard nation assistance approach. Essential to developing an appropriate nation building approach is the Military Assistance Advisory Group (MAAG) in each country. The members of this team and the Country Development Team (CDT), headed by the Ambassador, work in close coordination and cooperation with the host nation government to develop an effective approach to nation building. Two additional important participants in this process are the Commanders-in-Chief (CINC) of US Southern Command and US Special Operations Command. The MAAG and CDT are responsible for developing an approach that promotes host nation development and supports US foreign policy. The two CINCs participate in the planning process and provide

support through nation assistance forces and by closely monitoring the security assistance process.

Nation Assistance Forces

The US Army contributes to achieving the national objectives of regional stability and developmental assistance by using its nation assistance forces. Nation Assistance Forces are individuals/teams/sections/units/task forces which possess skills suited to assist a host nation.⁸ These forces, when introduced, provide a means of promoting and protecting US interests, within the host nation. The primary goal of US forces conducting nation assistance operations is to assist a host nation in develoring its ability to provide for the needs of its society, and to be ld stability through orderly, responsive change.⁹ The systematic application of these forces provide, to the host nation, a means of reducing internal unrest by indirectly benefiting the public through host governmental development.

Aviation Support

Countries in Central America, specifically El Salvador, Guatemala and Nicaragua are developing army aviation

organizations and incorporating them as a part of their nation building programs. These nation building programs encompass the military operational continuum. Army aviation organizations, are extremely versatile and are well suited for both civil and military use during peacetime competition, conflict and war. The use of helicopters by these organizations have proven to be invaluable as assets in nation assistance programs and nation building strategy.

As an example, El Salvador is currently in a state of <u>conflict</u> with regard to the operational continuum. The El Salvadoran Air Force has 19 armed and 42 transport helicopters. These helicopters are used to support army combat forces opposing the insurgent actions of the Farabundo Marti National Liberation (FMLN). Unfortunately, for the government of El Salvador, counter-insurgency operations comprise a major portion of their nation building initiatives to achieve government legitimacy.

In addition to these traditional roles, the use of helicopters can be expanded to support nation building initiatives that are non-combat oriented and reside in the <u>peacetime competition</u> end of the operational continuum. These roles and missions may include civic action, humanitarian assistance, disaster relief, medical evacuation, geological survey and environmental monitoring.

There are many examples of military helicopter operations which have been used throughout the world to support civilian

authority. In August 1976, flooding of the Big Thompson River in northern Colorado left many people stranded in the flood zone. Helicopters from the 4th Infantry Division at Fort Carson were tasked to search for people stranded as a result of the flood and to evacuate victims from the flooded area. These helicopters were also available to local government authorities to survey and assess damage caused by the flood. Helicopters from the US 3d Infantry Division have been used to support German civilian authorities and to promote German-American relations. As recent as 1990, helicopters were used to assess damage to forests caused by exceedingly high winds and also to determine flood damage along the Main River. Soviet helicopters were used to emplace cement atop the nuclear reactor at Chernobyl as a means of containing radioactive contamination. US and Vietnamese helicopters were employed to relocate civilians away from conflict areas during the Vietnam War. Helicopters have transported medical teams to remote regions in Nicaragua to provide medical assistance to civilians. Humanitarian assistance and civic action are valid missions that aviation organizations can support. Army aviation organizations can be used in dual roles to support military force structure and to provide a capability to conduct civic action and other nation-building tasks that are ultimately aimed at strengthening public support for the government. In developing democracies, establishing popular support for the government is vital to nation-building.

Army aviation organizations developed by host countries can be used to extend government services to areas where services are not readily available.

INTEGRATING AVIATION INTO NATION BUILDING

The army aviation contribution to nation building can be significant and can provide nation building support to the regional CINCs. Nation building is achieved by employing aviation nation assistance forces that include aviation special operations forces, aviation units assigned to general combat forces, and the formal training base.

Aviation Special Operations Forces

Aviation nation assistance forces must focus their training efforts on the development of host nation aviation organizations that maximize the use of existing capabilities. To meet training assistance needs in Central America, CINC USSOCOM has proposed the development of a Foreign Internal Defense (FID) aviation capability. The unit mission would be to assist the selected developing nation governments with the aviation aspects of their internal security and development programs by providing or supporting training in tactical employment, aviation logistics and aviation mission support. Training for tactical employment

of their aircraft in low intensity conflict would include counter-insurgency, counter-narcotics, and nation building/civil assistance roles. The FID unit mission will provide training support in aviation logistics, expedient maintenance and sustainment of aviation organizations. Finally, training provided to the host nation military will also include aviation mission support of air traffic control (ATC), command and control, ground facility planning and training establishment operations.

The intent of the FID aviation capability is to train existing host nation aircrews for tactical applications in internal defense and development. This training would be accomplished using host nation assets to the maximum extent possible.¹⁰ This concept has significant potential especially when it is included as a part of overall US military strategy aimed at achieving regional stability.

This initiative is primarily oriented toward fixed wing and Air Force operations during early development. Army aviation personnel should be included to provide the expertise necessary to work with helicopter organizations. A tailored joint organization will be more capable of addressing the needs of the cooperative nations military forces. The members of the FID aviation capability will accomplish the following four important functions: 1) assist the in-country MAAG to assess infrastructure and training requirements, 2) assess capabilities of the host nation military force and the government's ability to

project that force, 3) assist in development of aviation infrastructure and 4) train host country aviation personnel in tactical employment of aircraft and in missions oriented towards civil application of aircraft.

The success of the FID aviation capability, as proposed, is contingent upon the US providing assistance to the host nation, not leading the nation building initiatives. The appearance, by the US government, of leading nation building initiatives could result in the misinterpretation of US military intent on behalf This misinterpretation might lead to the of the host nation. appearance of US military aggression and interference in host nation programs. This would have an adverse effect on promoting US interests. The host nation's leadership must trust the US and understand its policies and intentions. It is important to US interests to avoid the possible image of the US being the world's policeman. Avoiding these problems presents a challenge to nation assistance planners. US and host nation planners must develop initiatives that are directly linked to the nation building initiatives of the host nation.

Aviation Formal Training Base

Traditionally, US training base facilities have been used to provide training programs to enhance the aviation capabilities of foreign governments. Two such programs are the Latin American (LATAM) Helicopter Training Program at Fort Rucker, Alabama and the International Air Force Academy (IAFA) operated by the US Air Force at Homestead Air Force Base, Florida. Both programs are technically oriented and focus on training aircrew members with the near term goal of providing manpower capability with a long term goal of providing future leadership to host nation aviation organizations. IAFA's focus is primarily on fixed wing aviation while the Fort Rucker program is solely helicopter related. Regardless of the focus of either program, the intent must be to train aviators. Host nation leadership will need to develop viable internal aviation organizations that will meet the needs of their own nations.

Principles for Integration

The successful integration of army aviation into nation building is dependent on fundamental principles that both the US and the host nation follow. The following principles should be established to insure the successful integration of aviation organizations into nation assistance operations:

1) Decisions on use of aviation assets must be made exclusively by the host nation government. Employing aviation organizations is a political decision. How host nation army aviation organizations are used must be the decision of the political leadership of the host nation. The decision to use

aviation organizations in counter-insurgency, counter-narcotics, disaster relief, humanitarian assistance or civic action roles is the responsibility of the host nation government. It is the responsibility of in-country nation assistance forces to advise the host nation leadership, to include military leadership, on the best possible use of aviation organizations given the nation building tasks to be accomplished.

2) Tailor nation assistance forces to the host nation needs. Countries in Central America have differing needs based upon economic development, budget constraints, political ideologies and military structure. Based on these external and internal influences, the employment of nation assistance forces must be tailored to support the nation building initiatives established by the host nation.

Ĵ

3) Civil-military operations require detailed plans that must be developed and coordinated. When army aviation organizations are to be used in concert with other host nation governmental agencies, plans should be developed between governmental agencies and the host nation military to insure unity of effort and commitment.

4) Conduct Joint Training Exercises. Joint training exercises should be conducted to improve military and civilian agency responses. This training would facilitate a coordinated

and well developed plan for response during emergency and humanitarian assistance operations. US Army aviation nation assistance forces can contribute significantly to the planning process as well as in the execution of joint training exercises.

5) Emphasize the peaceful use of aviation organizations.

Because of their inherent flexibility and responsiveness helicopter organizations can be quickly marshalled to support disaster relief, humanitarian assistance and reconnaissance missions that are not directly oriented to combat operations. While utility in these non-combat, roles is readily accepted, the ability to accomplish these missions in some nations is not routinely practiced. Dual use of helicopters can be one of the key elements in nation building because it briefs the army in close contact with the government and with the ordinary citizen, thus support the max nation building fundamentals. Although isopeting priorities may prevent the use of aviation organizations in non-conflict roles, nation assistance forces should emphasize the dual roles that aircraft can perform in support of nation building initiatives that are not conflict oriented.

6) Promote the development of aviation infrastructure.

Many nation building initiatives undertaken by governments in Central America are hampered by lack of an adequate aviation infrastructure. Specialized aviation equipment such as forward

area refueling equipment (FARE), firefighting, communications and meteorological forecasting equipment can be obtained through US security assistance programs. Introducing such equipment can extend the range of aviation operations and provide for safer mission accomplishment. The FID aviation structure can be tailored to provide training to support the integration of aviation infrastructure equipment.

7) US Foreign aid and security assistance programs must serve to reduce internal unrest by directly benefiting the public and promoting governmental development. The US strategy for security assistance in developing nations must be designed to accomplish two objectives: (1) protect US interests and promote the acceptance of democratic ideals (2) promote regional stability by assisting developing nations, thereby ensuring their own internal stability. These programs must be coordinated with other US stability programs to provide the host nation government the means to develop economically, politically, and militarily.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The capabilities of aviation assistance forces to plan, develop, train and assist Central American countries in establishing aviation organizations is unparalleled. The question is not whether US Army Aviation can be integrated into nation assistance

Southine, but mather how the Army assists in the development of host nation aviation organizations. To answer this challenge, I propose the following recommendations:

RECOMMENDATION 1. The peaceful use of military helicopters must be incorporated into the Army's employment doctrine and training programs for Central America. Host nation government officials need recognize that helicopters belonging to the military can be used in dual roles. Generally, helicopters have been used primarily for counter-insurgency and counter narcotic operations. While these missions demand major attention, it excludes the use of helicopters in support of internal defense, and ignores peaceful uses which can ultimately add legitimacy to the governments civil military operations.

RECOMMENDATION 2. The in-country team, consisting of the US Military Assistance Advisory Group and the Country Development Team, must coordinate all US stability programs for the host nation. US stability programs include DOD agencies, Department of State (DOS) agencies, US private industry and other US government programs. The in-country team must develop, in partnership with the host nation, a prioritized list of US military equipment to support host nation initiatives. Helicopters, aviation repair parts, aircrew/maintenance training, and aviation infrastructure equipment must be included in the priority list. While the priority listing may not guarantee that

equipment will be forthcoming through the FMS program, it will enable closer coordination between US stability programs.

RECOMMENDATION 3. The MAAG must assist the host nation in establishing an aviation fielding concept that fully integrates aviation logistics. There is a lack of sufficient infrastructure to support existing helicopter operations. This includes anortages of replacement parts and maintenance facilities. The problem of replacement parts shortages is often compounded because some governments have purchased helicopters from many different manufacturers. An integrated fielding concept will streamline host nation purchasing programs with long term support by manufactures. Additionally, placing emphasis on the dual uses of helicopters will assist in justifying host nation funding and requests for security assistance.

RECOMMENDATION 4: The U.S. must continue the training conducted by the School of the Americas, the LATAM Helicopter Training Program and the International Air Force Academy (IAFA) The lack of trained aircrews and maintenance and support personnel will hamper the use of Lelicopters in any military or civil mission requirement. The establishment of helicopter initial qualification training schools are expensive and beyond the financial capability of many Central American countries.

RECOMMENDATION 5: The MAAG must accurately identity aviation peopliar equipment such as the Forward Area Betse. Equipment (FARE) system and air traffic control (ATC) equipment that are reasired by the host nation to develop aviation infrastructure. The lack of aviation peculiar equipment and infrastructure limits the range at which helicopters can operate. Many Latin American countries have poorly developed transportation infrastructure. As examples, Honduras has they kilometers of roads, of which 1,674 kilometers or 20% are raves. In Nicaragua, less than 1% are paved. Helicopters can readly support civic action programs and extend government presence in remote regions. However, without remote bases that possess some maintenance capability and fuel, helicopter operations can be restricted to base or flight endurance operations. The FARE system can be made available through the US foreign military sales program to extend helicopter operations into remote regions.

RECOMMENDATION 6: Army aviation qualified officers should be assigned to military advisory groups in Central America. Having US Army aviation qualified officers assigned to the military advisory groups on a permanent basis can be instrumental in the integration of helicopter support into governmental nationbuilding initiatives. An army aviation officer will be able to accomplish the following:

1) Provide guidance on the dual role use of helicopters to host nation aviation leadership.

2) Assess host natic: requirements and design security assistance packages to meet those needs over the long term.

3) Assess the training needs of aviation personnel to include aviation leadership, aircrew members, and maintenance personnel.

4) Assess aviation peculiar infrastructure requirements such as forward area refueling equipment and ground support equipment.

RECOMMENDATION 7: The Army's Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC) and the US Army Aviation Center and School (USAAVNCS) must work with IAFA to identify and resolve any duplication of training and planning efforts. In times of dwindling budgets and force structure reductions, can the DOD afford to fund duplicative training efforts in IAFA and the LATAM Helicopter Training Program? Currently, IAFA conducts helicopter training courses for Latin American Students while similar courses are taught at Fort Rucker or Fort Eustis. A central plan focusing on the development of a well defined, all encompassing joint aviation training program must be identified.

CONCLUSION

Nation building is not a new concept. It includes the peaceful use of military force to benefit the community and the nation, and is an integral part of achieving national security. US support of nation building programs in Central America assists in promoting democratic governments and stability in the western hemisphere. Therefore, it is in the best interest of the United States to encourage developing democracies to utilize their military resources to meet strategic goals as well as to provide education, medical, engineering and humanitarian assistance to their people.

In discussing the background and principles, it should be clear that a consistent approach is necessary to any nation building program. Furthermore, these principles must be applied to the development of nation building programs for each Central American country. Because stable and economically sound Central American democratic governments are the desired <u>ends</u>, the US must use its foreign aid and security assistance programs as the <u>ways</u> and programs such as mobile training teams, nation assistance forces and foreign military sales as the <u>means</u> to accomplish the desired end state.

The challenges to army aviation's contributions to nation building are not all inclusive, others will emerge. Education and training of host nation leadership and the development of sound aviation organizations is key to resolving the issues that confront the US Army aviation community. Aviation planners must

promote the use of helicopters in non-traditional roles that support host nation initiatives in internal development and stability operations.

Finally, provided in this paper is a basis for additional study and research in incorporating army aviation's contribution to operations short of conflict which are a vital and integral part of nation building. Now is the time to incorporate the inherent dual roles and mission capabilities of Army aviation into nation assistance doctrine. The United States will benefit from this doctrine as will the Army aviation community. More importantly, developing nations will benefit from the result of such doctrine and the programs developed to support it.

ENDNOTES

1.	US Army Combined Arms Center, Evolution of the Army. pp. 27.
2.	Airland Battle-Future: Nation Assistance Concept, pg. 1.
3. Ford	Powell's Vision: A Small but able Postwar Military. Air ce Times, April 15, 1991. pg. 4.
Free	US Commission on Integrated Long-Term Strategy, <u>Commitment to</u> edom: <u>Security Assistance as a US Policy</u> Instrument in the rd World. pg. 12.
5.	National Security Strategy of the United States. p. 12.
6.	Ibid.
and	John T. Fishel and Edmund S Cowan. <u>Civil Military Operations</u> <u>the War for Moral Legitimacy in Latin America</u> . Military lew, Jan 88, p. 37.
8.	Airland Battle-Future: <u>Nation Assistance Concept</u> , pg. 4.
9.	<u>Ibid</u> ,, p. 1.
10.	Carl Stiner, General, CINC USSOCOM. <u>USSOCOM Briefing</u> .

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BOOKS:

Fagan, Richard R. Forging Peace: The Challenge of Central America. New York: Basil Blackwell Inc., 1987

Glick, Edward B. <u>Peaceful Conflict</u>. Harrisburg, PA: Stackpole Books, 1967.

Hanning, Hugh. <u>The Peaceful Uses of Military Forces</u>. New York: Frederick A. Praeger Publishers, 1967,

Lowenthal, Abraham F. <u>Partners in Conflict</u>. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1987.

Molineu, Harold. <u>U.S. Policy Toward Latin America</u>. Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1986.

Wesson, Robert, ed., <u>U.S. Influence in Latin America in the</u> 1980s. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1982.

JOURNALS/MAGAZINES:

Barnes, Rudolph C., Jr., LTC. "The Politics of Low-Intensity Conflict," Military Review, February 1988, pp. 2-10.

Burgess, William H. III, MAJ. "SOF in Airland Battle Future," Military Review, February 1991, pp. 30-37.

Groesbeck, Wesley A., COL. "Training to Win Hearts and Minds," Army, April 1988, pp. 60-66.

Swett, Jorge, Captain, Chilean Navy. "U.S. Policies Toward Latin America: Much Room for Much Improvement. <u>Naval War College</u> <u>Review</u>, Spring 1990, pp. 76-84.

MILITARY PUBLICATIONS:

Samelson, Louis J., Dr. ed. <u>The Management of Security</u> <u>Assistance</u>. Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio: Defense Institute of Security Assistance Management, April 1990.

U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. Joint Pub 3-07 (Test): Docrtine for Joint Operations in Low Intensity Conflict. Washington: October 1990.

U.S. Department of the Army. <u>Field Manual 1-100</u>: Army Aviation in Combat Operations. Washington: February 1989.

U.S. Department of the Army. <u>Field Manual 100-20</u>: Military Operations in Low Intensity Conflict. Washington: December 1989. U.S. Army Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC). <u>TRADOC</u> <u>PAMPHLET 525-44</u>. U.S. Army Operational Concept for Low Intensity Conflict. Fort Monroe, Virginia: February 1986.

De Pauw, John W. and Luz, George A., eds. <u>Winning the Peace:</u> <u>The Strategic Implications of Military Civic Action</u>. Carlisle Barracks, PA: Strategic Studies Institutue, U.S. Army War College, 1990.

Lykke, Arthur F. Jr., COL., ed. <u>Military Stragegy: Theory and</u> <u>Application</u>. Carlisle Barracks, PA: U.S. Army War College, 1989.

PUBLIC DOCUMENTS:

The Military Balance: 1990-1991. The International Institute of Strategic Studies, Oxford: Brassey's, 1990.

REPORTS AND STUDIES:

Association of the United States Army, "Security Assistance: An Instrument of U.S. Foreign Policy," Arlington, June 1990.

Kraemer, Alfred J. "Promoting Civic Action in Less Developed Nations: A Conceptualization of the U.S. Military Mission Role," <u>Human Resources Research Office Technical Report 68-10</u>. Alexandria, Virginia: George Washington University, July 1968.

Matthews, James K. and Ofcansky, Thomas P. <u>Military Airlift</u> <u>Command Operations in Subsaharan Africa, 1960-1985: A Case Study</u> of <u>Airpower in the Third World</u>. Scott AFB, Illinois: U.S. Air Force, Military Airlift Command, June 1986.

LECTURES:

Joulwan, George, GEN. CINC USSOUTHCOM. Lecture. 5 February 1991.

Stiner, Carl, GEN. CINC USSOCOM. Lectrue. 29 January 1991

INTERVIEWS:

Brown, Mary E., GS13. Office of the Director of Plans and Training, US Army Aviation Center. Personal Interview. Fort Rucker: 26 March 1991.

Hiatt, Ralph, COL. Director of Plans and Training, US Army Aviation Center. Personal Interview. Fort Rucker: 3January 1991.

INTERVIEWS: (Continued)

Quimby, David, LTC. Chief, Major Army Command Branch, Officer Distribution Division. US Army Military Personnel Center. Personal Interview. Washington: 3 May 1991.

STUDENT RESEARCH PAPERS:

Ø

Hanretta, Kevin T., LTC. <u>Civilian Control of the Military</u> <u>Establishment</u>. Thesis. Carlisle Barracks: U.S. Army War College, 2 April 1990.

Lofgren, David J., COL. <u>Peacekeeping and the Army: Where are We</u>? Thesis. Carlisle Barracks: U.S. Army War College, 23 March 1990.

Pence, Thomas E., LTC. <u>Humanitarian Assistance/Civic Action</u> <u>Funding Requirements for Special Operations Forces</u>. Thesis. Carlisle Barracks: U.S. Army War College, 7 March 1989.